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          1  COMMITTEE ON CONSUMER AFFAIRS

          2                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Good afternoon,

          3  everyone. Welcome to this meeting on the Consumer

          4  Affairs Committee. I am Leroy Comrie, Chair of the

          5  Committee. I want to thank you all for attending

          6  this afternoon's hearing. We have Council Members

          7  Oliver Koppell, Chairing the Mental Health

          8  Committee, that is convening as we speak across the

          9  way in the Council Committee Room, and Council

         10  Member Charles Barron, who is also Chair and

         11  convening a meeting of his Committee, the Higher Ed

         12  Committee, also across the street. We are joined by

         13  Council Member Helen Sears this afternoon.

         14                 This will be the Committee's first

         15  hearing on proposed Introductory Bill Number 530, a

         16  bill to license and regulate furniture retail

         17  stores. According to DCA, this class of retailers

         18  consistently ranks among the top five categories of

         19  businesses for which the DCA receives consumer

         20  complaints. Complicated and fraudulent return

         21  policies, deceptive promotions, defective

         22  merchandise, missed or non-deliveries, selling used

         23  items as new and failure to resolve customer

         24  complaints are among the most common consumer

         25  grievances.
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          2                 In the 2005 fiscal year, DCA

          3  reportedly received 424 consumer complaints

          4  regarding furniture stores. In fiscal year 2006,

          5  that number increased to 628 complaints. In the

          6  first three months of fiscal year 2007, DCA

          7  reportedly received 373 furniture store related

          8  complaints, more than half the number of all

          9  complaints received during the entire 2006 fiscal

         10  year.

         11                 To combat deceptive trade practices,

         12  DCA must rely on the consumer protection law which

         13  authorizes DCA to levy civil fines against offending

         14  retailers. However, the amounts of complaints that

         15  DCA receives demonstrates that more needs to be

         16  done. A licensing requirement would allow DCA to

         17  keep a postal watch on the furniture retail industry

         18  and would empower consumers with farther ranging

         19  rights in relation to furniture sales and

         20  deliveries.

         21                 Among other important consumer

         22  protections, Intro 530 would prohibit any person

         23  from operating a furniture retail store without

         24  first having obtained a license. Licenses would be

         25  issued, renewed and subject to suspension and
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          2  revocation by the Commissioner of DCA. Licensees,

          3  would be required to display prices and provide

          4  detailed receipts for purchases that include

          5  estimated delivery dates. Regulations would be

          6  imposed regarding schedules for furniture delivery

          7  and if furniture were not delivered in a timely

          8  manner, customers would be entitled to cancel

          9  orders, negotiate new delivery dates and accept or

         10  reject undelivered remainders of partial order

         11  deliveries. Consumers would also be empowered to

         12  refuse delivery of damage or defective merchandise

         13  and demand refunds or alternative merchandise of

         14  equal value.

         15                 Invited to speak today on the bill

         16  are representatives from Department of Consumer

         17  Affairs, New York City Economic Development

         18  Corporation, Small Business and Economic Development

         19  Groups, consumer advocates, as well as interested

         20  members of the public. We look forward to hearing

         21  all the witnesses that will come before us today.

         22  Before we continue, I would like to ask the bill's

         23  prime sponsor, Council Member Helen Sears, to say a

         24  few words on Intro 530.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: Thank you very
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          2  much, Mr. Chair. I thank you for this hearing today.

          3  Much of this proposed bill has already been stated

          4  by the Chair. One of the things I would like to say

          5  is that when bills are proposed, sometimes it is

          6  unfortunate that you include all that fall into that

          7  category because many, many merchants in the

          8  furniture business are very good and honest. This

          9  bill also does not get at the large stores where

         10  they have less than 20 percent for their display.

         11  The very large stores that deal in furniture but

         12  have less than 20 percent, they are exempt from

         13  this. So we may think of the large chain stores and

         14  the large department stores that sell furniture,

         15  they would be excluded from this bill.

         16                 Unfortunately, we have had to move

         17  forward with this because a small furniture store is

         18  not licensed by the City of New York. The

         19  individual, the consumer and I have had many

         20  complaints in my district office and as the numbers

         21  have been enumerated by the Chair, it is a growing,

         22  growing problem. The small little consumer gets into

         23  the store, he puts a deposit or pays on his credit

         24  card and it is paid in full and he never receives

         25  the furniture. His recourse is to take it personally
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          2  into the courts and spend more money. That's a very

          3  unfair situation. And what is happening to the

          4  consumer in New York City with such scams and with

          5  such fraudulent merchants, the numbers are growing.

          6                 Hopefully, what we hear today, we

          7  will be able to review since it is a hearing. If it

          8  requires some additions to it or amendments, we are

          9  certainly open to that and I am. But we must keep in

         10  mind, it has come to this point because the numbers

         11  are growing. People are losing money and they are

         12  not getting their merchandise. It seems it is the

         13  responsibility of government; although and I make

         14  this very clear, we are not in the business of

         15  constantly regulating and regulating and regulating

         16  and taking away the freedoms of the small business

         17  community.

         18                 At the same time, when there is

         19  something that grows so enormously as this, it is

         20  our responsibility to see that we protect the

         21  consumer. And with the Consumer Business Affairs and

         22  with licensing, that agency does have a way to work

         23  with the consumer. Right now, they don't. With that,

         24  I'm going to turn it over to the Chair. Thank you

         25  again so that we can be here and I will stay until
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          2  the end to hear everyone's testimony. Thank you.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Thank you. We are

          4  joined today by Andy Eiler from the Department of

          5  Consumer Affairs and Fran Freedman, the Associate

          6  Commissioner for the Department of Consumer Affairs

          7  and we will hear from Ms. Freedman and Mr. Eiler at

          8  this time. Before you begin, I just want to

          9  congratulate the Department of Consumer Affairs,

         10  last week or was it a week or more ago, there was an

         11  article about your successful efforts to go after

         12  some auto dealerships that were deceptively sending

         13  out literature making people think they had a check

         14  to buy a car. And I want to congratulate you on

         15  that. We had talked about that here a while ago and

         16  I'm glad somebody over there listened and followed

         17  up.

         18                 ASSOCIATE COMMISSIONER FREEDMAN:

         19  Thank you so much. I know the Commissioner will be

         20  happy to hear those words. Good afternoon, Chairman

         21  Comrie and Council Member Sears and your wonderful

         22  staff. I'm Fran Freedman. I'm the new Associate

         23  Commissioner of the Department of Consumer Affairs.

         24  Commissioner Mintz deeply regrets that he is unable

         25  to attend today, but I appreciate this opportunity
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          2  to comment on his behalf on Intro 530.

          3                 As the Chairman has already told you,

          4  consumer complaints against furniture stores have

          5  perennially been among the five highest rank

          6  complaint categories for the Department. Ranked

          7  fifth highest in FY '05 with 546 complaints, it

          8  jumped to fourth place with 814 complaints in FY '06

          9  and now is again in fifth place with 373 complaints

         10  through March of this year. As you are probably

         11  aware, the other four industries on our hit parade

         12  of high complaints are home improvement contractors

         13  electronic stores, debt collectors and second- hand

         14  auto dealers.

         15                 The problems that consumers most

         16  commonly encounter with furniture stores and the

         17  Chairman has already alluded to some of them, as

         18  reflected by the types of complaints filed with the

         19  Department from FY '05 through March of this year,

         20  include defective goods (that would be 575

         21  complaints or 33 percent of all complaints); refunds

         22  (with 471 complaints or 27 percent); non- delivery

         23  of goods (with 264 complaints or 15 percent of the

         24  complaints); exchange of goods or cancellation of

         25  orders (11 complaints or six percent); and wrong
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          2  goods (95 complaints or five percent) and damaged

          3  goods (with 90 complaints or five percent).

          4  Interestingly, of the 1,733 complaints the

          5  Department received since FY '05 to date, 45 percent

          6  were generated by a handful of stores, as I think

          7  Council Member Sears alluded too, actually just 22

          8  of them. Out of the more than 700 furniture stores

          9  in the City, these 22 stores accounted for 793 of

         10  the complaints that the Department has received.

         11                 Let me share with you how the

         12  Department has been able to assist consumers in a

         13  number of ways using the Consumer Protection Law.

         14  DCA inspectors have, over the years, conduced

         15  inspections while on routine patrol or in response

         16  to complaints and tips and of course have issued

         17  violations. Our enforcement data indicate that from

         18  2004 through 2006, 130 violations were issued to 105

         19  stores. These violations reveal a pattern of

         20  depriving consumers of key information when shopping

         21  in the furniture market place.

         22                 For example, failing to disclose the

         23  total price of the goods; failing to disclose or

         24  improperly disclosing refund policies, engaging in

         25  deceptive sales practices, issuing receipts not in
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          2  compliance with the law, and failing to display

          3  price information have all been among the most

          4  common violations.

          5                 Despite the lack of hearing and

          6  licensing authority, the Department has sought and

          7  continues to seek to resolve consumer complaints

          8  through mediation. Such resolutions involves

          9  mediating voluntary and I emphasis, voluntary

         10  agreements, between consumers and furniture stores.

         11  Successful mediation outcomes are, overall at 46

         12  percent of the 1,733 complaints filed from FY '05 to

         13  March of this year. Store specific successful

         14  resolution outcome rates range from 75 percent to

         15  just eight percent. Such variations in resolution

         16  rates are due, in large measure, to the Department's

         17  lack of authority to take the cases to hearings and

         18  hold retailers responsible, as it can do with others

         19  over whom it has hearing authority.

         20                 And, of course, a final avenue for

         21  assisting consumers with complaints against

         22  furniture stores is to bring charges in State court

         23  for violations of the Consumer Protection Law. The

         24  Department initiated that process in 2005 by issuing

         25  notices of violation to furniture stores large and

                                                            12

          1  COMMITTEE ON CONSUMER AFFAIRS

          2  small citywide to seek restitution on behalf of

          3  consumers and fines totaling more than $185,000.

          4  These retail stores were cited for just the kinds of

          5  violations I have described: Bogus return policies,

          6  deceptive promotions, defective merchandise, missed

          7  or non- deliveries, selling used items as new and

          8  failure to resolve consumer complaints. These cases

          9  are still under active settlement negotiations.

         10                 What then, is the best way to help

         11  consumers who are buying furniture? One way is, of

         12  course, to legislate licensing requirements. But the

         13  handful of stores which generate the bulk of

         14  consumer complaints suggests a more targeted

         15  approach; granting the Department Hearing Authority

         16  over violations of all the laws it enforces,

         17  including the Consumer Protection Law that

         18  specifically addresses the substantive requirements

         19  of Intro 530. This approach, already under serious

         20  consideration by this Committee, would allow the

         21  Department to protect individual consumers when they

         22  are first harmed, rather than having to wait to

         23  aggregate, and then act upon, the complaints of

         24  many.

         25                 We looking forward to exploring with
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          2  the Council and with industry representatives,

          3  options for addressing these issues to ensure our

          4  mission, a fair and vibrant market place for

          5  consumers and the industry alike. And I thank you

          6  again for this opportunity to comment.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Are you going to

          8  add anything, Mr. Eiler?

          9                 MR. EILER: No, thank you.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Just checking.

         11                 MR. EILER: She covered it all.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Okay, great. In

         13  your presentation, you are saying that 22 stores

         14  accounted for 793 of the complaints that the

         15  Department received?

         16                 ASSOCIATE COMMISSIONER FREEDMAN:

         17  Correct.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: You have a break

         19  down of what kind stores those were?

         20                 ASSOCIATE COMMISSIONER FREEDMAN: We

         21  could get you that breakdown, absolutely. We do

         22  indeed.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: As my Counsel is

         24  pointing out, there are still at least 1,000 stores,

         25  well over 1,000 complaints that were different
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          2  stores or other stores.

          3                 ASSOCIATE COMMISSIONER FREEDMAN:

          4  Right.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Do you know if

          6  any of these 22 stores are still in business?

          7                 ASSOCIATE COMMISSIONER FREEDMAN:

          8  Interestingly, some of those 22 stores are already

          9  out of business.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: I would imagine

         11  they were.

         12                 ASSOCIATE COMMISSIONER FREEDMAN: Yes,

         13  indeed.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: For non- delivery

         15  of goods, which is when you go and research that,

         16  did you find that the store has gone out of

         17  business?

         18                 ASSOCIATE COMMISSIONER FREEDMAN: In

         19  many cases, Mr. Chairman, that's precisely what

         20  happens and that's exactly one of the problems.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: So we had 264

         22  stores that promised to deliver goods and then

         23  either disappeared or decided to go bankrupt or --

         24                 ASSOCIATE COMMISSIONER FREEDMAN: We

         25  can't assume that they all disappeared, of course.
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          2  But some of them did disappear indeed.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Is it true that a

          4  lot of them just slipped names or come up with new

          5  names for the businesses and then just absolve or

          6  ignored their old responsibilities.

          7                 ASSOCIATE COMMISSIONER FREEDMAN: It

          8  happens indeed. I can probably do a little research

          9  on that.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: All of those

         11  things lead to the need for licensing. I understand

         12  you are trying to make the case for, which is

         13  understandable for hearing authority, but wouldn't

         14  licensing give you a better opportunity to track and

         15  know when a business was flipping names or changing

         16  owners or changing locations, just the same people

         17  doing the same deviant activity, moving from North

         18  Bronx to Mid- Bronx or to Queens. You would know

         19  that it was the same Fran Freedman Associates under

         20  a different name, just not to use anyone else's

         21  name.

         22                 ASSOCIATE COMMISSIONER FREEDMAN:

         23  Thank you. I think in many ways, hearing authority

         24  would indeed do the job because it really does

         25  remove a regulatory burden from a very wide group of
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          2  good players. And I think Council Member Sears

          3  pointed to that precisely in her opening remarks

          4  that there are so many good players and a kind of,

          5  not a hand full, but maybe two hands full of bad

          6  actors who really are harming the public.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: In our outreach

          8  so far, we haven't heard any problems from any of

          9  the players knowing that in fact that there are the

         10  jurisdictions requiring them licensing with the

         11  municipality. It is something that they used to as

         12  far as the good players are concerned. Do you think

         13  that there are any stores would be discouraged

         14  rather from the enactment of Intro 530?

         15                 ASSOCIATE COMMISSIONER FREEDMAN: Mr.

         16  Eiler will comment.

         17                 MR. EILER: Andrew Eiler. I mean

         18  obviously there is going to be industry as I read

         19  some press reports, there are some objections to

         20  having to have licensing approach which would

         21  require that every business whether it creates

         22  problems or not would have to go through the steps

         23  of licensing or regulations and so forth and so on.

         24  It's not just that we're looking for hearing

         25  authority, but essentially that plugs a gap that

                                                            17

          1  COMMITTEE ON CONSUMER AFFAIRS

          2  would give us the leverage to deal and address with

          3  all the issues and focus on the few stores that

          4  apparently create the majority of the problems and

          5  also give us an opportunity to deal with those other

          6  stores, the other 55 percent, on an individualized

          7  basis. Because we would be able to go and have

          8  hearings on violations in those individual cases.

          9                 The key is that we wouldn't have to

         10  wait. I mean there are some other protections that

         11  would also be considered that might plug some gaps

         12  like, for example, this bill doesn't have anything

         13  in there about having bonding or anything like that.

         14  Something about financial security which is the

         15  issue with regard to deliveries. There are ways to

         16  deal with that question aside from licensing. I

         17  think there is a number of avenues that can be

         18  explored and we are just suggesting an alternative

         19  targeted approach that would address most of the

         20  issues that we see without having to go the broad

         21  based route. That is something the Council would

         22  have to look up.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Okay. You are

         24  saying that hearing authority would help you with

         25  quickly litigating the particular issues and that's
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          2  already been established. We talked about the

          3  hearing authority issue at a previous meeting of the

          4  Council. Do you think that and they would give you a

          5  quicker opportunity to hold the oath meetings and I

          6  understand that. Would it still give you an

          7  opportunity to -- do you have a data base all of

          8  these groups and all of the furniture stores and

          9  especially the bad places as you quickly do sweeps

         10  now to these locations?

         11                 ASSOCIATE COMMISSIONER FREEDMAN: We

         12  do have a data base, absolutely.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: But right now,

         14  without them being licensed, you can only respond to

         15  complaints.

         16                 ASSOCIATE COMMISSIONER FREEDMAN:

         17  Exactly, exactly.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: With licensing,

         19  you could do regular updates and I guess surveys to

         20  ask them whether they are in compliance. Correct?

         21  And then you wouldn't just have to wait for hearing

         22  authority because if you are saying that you would

         23  just do this with hearing authority, you would still

         24  have to wait for a complaint to be generated before

         25  you went into the location.
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          2                 MR. EILER: We could also do sweeps

          3  and with hearing authority, we would have a more

          4  effective way of issuing that notice of violation

          5  which would have to be gone to court. But hearing

          6  notices with respect to violations that our

          7  inspectors see during sweeps and that would enable

          8  us to also hold them accountable on that basis so

          9  that we could identify through patrols and through

         10  tips and all the rest of that stuff the places that

         11  engage in violations would give us a quicker fix on

         12  addressing them.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: But the

         14  violations in the furniture industry, they don't

         15  have as many violations for things that are not

         16  consumer generated. In other words, they are not

         17  sending out the same hyper-deceptive as or doing

         18  free marketing. Most of their stuff according to

         19  defective goods, non- delivery, the exchange of

         20  goods, wrong goods, damage goods, most of those

         21  things are generated after the consumer has either

         22  received a product or been steered to a different

         23  product. It is not like you are going in do a sweep

         24  and see that much illegal activity with this type of

         25  business. Correct?
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          2                 ASSOCIATE COMMISSIONER FREEDMAN:

          3  Correct. It is not like our last week's --

          4                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Auto dealer.

          5                 ASSOCIATE COMMISSIONER FREEDMAN: --

          6  Sweep of the auto dealers. Correct.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: In fact, one of

          8  the Sergeant of Arms gave me one that he just

          9  received.

         10                 ASSOCIATE COMMISSIONER FREEDMAN: A

         11  scratch off? Do you have a scratch off?

         12                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: It was a check

         13  with a promise of $23,000 from the auto dealer. It

         14  was written in Spanish and then also they took it to

         15  a new level. A telemarketer called him about this

         16  specific company in the ad. I will have to give you

         17  that information to follow up on.

         18                 ASSOCIATE COMMISSIONER FREEDMAN: I

         19  was just going to suggest, Mr. Chairman, we would

         20  love to have that piece of paper.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: I have it in one

         22  of my 2,000 pieces of paper. I will make sure you

         23  get it by the end of the day.

         24                 ASSOCIATE COMMISSIONER FREEDMAN:

         25  Thank you.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: But they are

          3  taking it to another level. Back to this --

          4                 ASSOCIATE COMMISSIONER FREEDMAN: And

          5  so by the way are we.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: That's good.

          7                 ASSOCIATE COMMISSIONER FREEDMAN: We

          8  are going to continue to do that.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: That's a very

         10  positive thing. Since most of these complaints are

         11  consumer driven, for you to do the investigation, it

         12  is not like a sweep would that be effective in

         13  changing policy because other than the posting in

         14  how they put their pricing on, it's not like you are

         15  going to be able to check non- delivery of goods or

         16  exchange or damaged goods until after you get the

         17  complaint.

         18                 ASSOCIATE COMMISSIONER FREEDMAN:

         19  Correct.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Licensing, I

         21  think would still be part of the requirement. Do you

         22  think that there would be any exemptions in this

         23  industry that you could logically foresee to getting

         24  a license?

         25                 ASSOCIATE COMMISSIONER FREEDMAN:
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          2  That's an issue we would really like to explore.

          3  That's a very complicated and complex issue which

          4  bears, I think, if I may suggest further discussion.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Okay. An issue

          6  came up with the outdoor flea markets or the local

          7  church basically markets the large ones that they

          8  have around the City where you are actually having

          9  people selling their old furniture on a weekend. We

         10  would have to take a look at that. Clearly, if this

         11  bill would be passed, you would be able to staff up

         12  to handle it and put it within in your regular

         13  licensing scheme. Would you imagine that it would

         14  require additional staff to handle the work load?

         15                 ASSOCIATE COMMISSIONER FREEDMAN: I

         16  think at this time, I would say not.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Okay. When you

         18  said that you now do the voluntary agreements with

         19  them and the successful mediation outcomes are about

         20  46 percent of the 1,700 complaints that have been

         21  filed in the last two years and can you explain or

         22  get back to the Committee on what kind of resolution

         23  rates? You said they go from 75 percent to just

         24  eight percent. I would imagine the larger chain

         25  stores are at the 75 percent range.
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          2                 ASSOCIATE COMMISSIONER FREEDMAN:

          3  Exactly. Exactly in the main, although not

          4  necessarily some of the large players aren't willing

          5  to give a consumer a good resolution. Some are. Some

          6  of the little stores are willing to do so. That's

          7  why it is a huge range that 75 percent to just eight

          8  percent.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: That is a large

         10  range.

         11                 ASSOCIATE COMMISSIONER FREEDMAN: But

         12  in the main, it is those large players who really

         13  don't want their names soiled.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: I want to go to

         15  my bill sponsor for a minute to ask her a couple

         16  questions while I confer with my Counsel because

         17  there was a line of questioning I wanted to go down

         18  in a minute. Council Member Sears.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: Thank you very

         20  much. Just some points for clarification. The cases

         21  that you talked about being successfully resolved,

         22  were they licensed or unlicensed. That wasn't clear

         23  to me. Were they licensed or unlicensed?

         24                 ASSOCIATE COMMISSIONER FREEDMAN: None

         25  of the furniture stores are licensed. So, therefore,
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          2  there were no successful resolutions outcomes with

          3  any stores licensed. They are not licensed.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: Okay. The

          5  question is, how does the consumer know that there

          6  is recourse? When people have called and called my

          7  office and called Consumer Affairs, they were told

          8  there wasn't anything the agency itself could do,

          9  that they would have to do it personally. And

         10  consumers are not just about to go into court by

         11  themselves.

         12                 ASSOCIATE COMMISSIONER FREEDMAN:

         13  Exactly.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: One, it is

         15  expensive. How do we get this recourse to the

         16  consumer?

         17                 MR. EILER: Well, in a case of stores

         18  that they would not have a sign that they would have

         19  to have up as to DCA's complaint number because that

         20  is a requirement that applies to licensees that the

         21  DCA complaint number be up there. All we can do,

         22  this is an educational effort, to let consumers know

         23  that the DCA is available. We have our websites. We

         24  do all sorts of ways to get out the information of

         25  getting consumers to come to us to complain. There
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          2  is a whole 311 line and believe me, people are using

          3  that. So when people are having a problem with

          4  consumer complaint issues, that's the one place to

          5  go that they come to us. There are ways that

          6  consumers do reach us. They do reach us.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: When they call

          8  311, can they find out which stores have had

          9  complaints? It is that registered with 311?

         10                 MR. EILER: I'm not sure.

         11                 ASSOCIATE COMMISSIONER FREEDMAN:

         12  Excuse me. Actually, not furniture stores because it

         13  is an unlicensed category. But indeed, in some of

         14  our, most of our other licensed categories, one can

         15  find out.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: Okay. But not

         17  with the furniture stores.

         18                 ASSOCIATE COMMISSIONER FREEDMAN: No.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: So it would be

         20  very helpful for consumers if they knew which ones

         21  were the naughty boys so they made certain they

         22  didn't get in there. If the stores were licensed,

         23  would they be able to get that information?

         24                 MR. EILER: We're working. We don't

         25  have it all for the categories. We certainly have it
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          2  for HIC's. I think we expanded it to --

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: I know. But

          4  does licensing help for them to get that

          5  information?

          6                 MR. EILER: Well, that would be the

          7  way to get a handle -- to put them among --

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: That's fine.

          9  That is what I wanted to know. So having a license

         10  certainly helps the consumer so they would know

         11  exactly where they would be able to shop. Does the

         12  Intro 530, would it help those who operate good

         13  stores by removing those who operate outside of the

         14  law by allowing consumers to know so it is actually

         15  conjunction with that? Would that help the good

         16  stores a great deal?

         17                 MR. EILER: I think that's our mission

         18  is to have a vibrant market place that benefits both

         19  consumers and business. Because a vibrant market

         20  place that consumers can trust helps the good

         21  businesses.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: Okay. If I

         23  could sum up just my question for the moment and

         24  then I will give it back to the Chair, what

         25  licensing would do, 1) would be to help the consumer
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          2  identify what stores are most reliable in which to

          3  shop, and secondly, 530 would help the consumer to

          4  know where to shop. Because it would help remove

          5  those small amounts, no matter how small they are,

          6  to be removed from the list. So 530 would have some

          7  advantages from what you have said. What the purpose

          8  is, is to look at what do you do to protect the

          9  consumer who goes out in good faith because I must

         10  remind you that most of these stores, they are small

         11  merchants and they are in communities. People who

         12  live in communities and have vibrant commercial

         13  areas trust those stores.

         14                 We all believe that support should be

         15  given to our merchants in order to not only maintain

         16  the viability of the merchants, but to maintain the

         17  dynamics of communities. If you have a commercial

         18  area that isn't dynamic, it certainly isn't helping

         19  (when they have them), it certainly isn't helping

         20  the consumer. What happens if they are using their

         21  local stores and that's what we're talking about,

         22  not hurting anybody and 85 percent of our business

         23  is small businesses, that they would get into that

         24  store unlicensed and basically over a period of time

         25  really have no recourse. Because what is the length
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          2  of time that it would take you to accomplish what

          3  you have in terms of the recourse to the consumer.

          4                 Let's exclude the 20 percent or so

          5  that become unresolved. Let's just exclude that for

          6  the moment. What is the time frame and how much is

          7  it on you to basically deal with that and then tell

          8  me what recourse do you have if they were to be

          9  licensed? I know you said that before, but let's

         10  hear that again what you are not able to do right

         11  now. Would that expedite the process? Would they

         12  lose their license to begin with? That's one thing.

         13  And how long would it take to lose their license? In

         14  other words, how long does it take the consumer with

         15  your intercession to have some amicable resolution

         16  over how much of a period of time before these

         17  stores turn over?

         18                 ASSOCIATE COMMISSIONER FREEDMAN:

         19  License revocation is a complicated issue and, of

         20  course depends --

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: I understand

         22  that. I don't throw that out loosely.

         23                 ASSOCIATE COMMISSIONER FREEDMAN:

         24  Right. And would depend on how the law was written.

         25  I think that we're not able to comment on that. I

                                                            29

          1  COMMITTEE ON CONSUMER AFFAIRS

          2  just wanted to share with you that some of the very

          3  larger stores have large numbers of complaints that

          4  have been resolved at a very high rate. I think that

          5  furniture retailers in the main want to do the right

          6  thing and when these complaints are brought to their

          7  attention, they really do make good and that's part

          8  of our role is to help bring these complaints to

          9  their attention. And they do want to make good on

         10  it.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: When you say

         12  some of the larger stores, are you talking about and

         13  I don't know, so my questions are really clinical,

         14  are you talking very well known stores?

         15                 ASSOCIATE COMMISSIONER FREEDMAN: Yes,

         16  Yes. Very well known stores.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: Very, very well

         18  known stores --

         19                 ASSOCIATE COMMISSIONER FREEDMAN: Yes.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: -- That wish to

         21  maintain their integrity.

         22                 ASSOCIATE COMMISSIONER FREEDMAN:

         23  Precisely.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: The merchant on

         25  the street in all our neighborhoods because those
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          2  well known stores are standard throughout and are

          3  very large. Let's talk about the one that is not

          4  obeying the law and is closing shop as the Chair

          5  mentioned and he reopens under another name and he

          6  is continuously doing that. Would licensing help

          7  that? I don't know the process when they change

          8  names and go through again. I don't.

          9                 MR. EILER: Well, there is an element

         10  where licensing could address that kind of a problem

         11  in terms of what the fitness requirements would be

         12  that would be checked in advanced that just

         13  basically relying upon other things may not be

         14  there. But to get back to your other question, if I

         15  might, with the regard to speed of resolution and I

         16  hate to repeat myself. But I will and that is the

         17  issue there is whether or not we have the authority

         18  to hold hearings to adjudicate violations. That is

         19  the primary aspect of the situation as to how

         20  quickly we can address the complaint. Without

         21  hearing authority, without being able to take it to

         22  a hearing, we have to go to court too. So that

         23  immediately drags out the process to a very, very

         24  long, particularly when you have to deal with a

         25  large number of complaints, that is what slows the
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          2  whole process down.

          3                 With hearing authority and that's one

          4  of the key elements that licensing gives us. That's

          5  one of the tool pegs that licensing creates and that

          6  gives us hearing authority over the business to

          7  adjudicate complaints. That does not depend upon

          8  having to have licensing. That gives you the speed.

          9  Now once you have the speed and once you can address

         10  complaints, then you can get more information out to

         11  people and you can better target and inform

         12  consumers and all kinds of other information that

         13  you can tag onto that would be more helpful. I don't

         14  want to say that -- there are two options.

         15                 The licensing is a balancing thing.

         16  Licensing does some things that maybe this approach

         17  doesn't do, but it comes at a cost. The question is,

         18  the cost is maybe too much with respect to the

         19  additional benefits that you get. With the

         20  combination of talking about hearing authority, if

         21  you want to put stuff in there about bonding or some

         22  other equivalent that gives consumers financial

         23  security, that can complete the picture.

         24                 ASSOCIATE COMMISSIONER FREEDMAN: I

         25  also wanted to respond, Council Member Sears, to

                                                            32

          1  COMMITTEE ON CONSUMER AFFAIRS

          2  your question. We don't have data at this time that

          3  reveals that furniture stores, unlike home

          4  improvement contractors are closing and reopening,

          5  closing and reopening under different names. That is

          6  not information we have collected at this time. I

          7  can't say what the magnitude of that particular

          8  problem is.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: How would you

         10  even go about gathering that information? That's a

         11  very difficult thing to do.

         12                 ASSOCIATE COMMISSIONER FREEDMAN:

         13  Exactly.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: Which means

         15  that because it is so difficult to gather that

         16  information, we need some things that may not be

         17  particularly pleasant to have, but in view of the

         18  fact that that information could probably say, would

         19  be almost impossible to gather because of the speed

         20  in which they are done and in fact of how varied and

         21  disperse it is that recognizing that we need to have

         22  something that is going to shrink the gap. My

         23  question is, of those that have been resolved, have

         24  they been predominately with the better known stores

         25  since they are unlicensed?

                                                            33

          1  COMMITTEE ON CONSUMER AFFAIRS

          2                 ASSOCIATE COMMISSIONER FREEDMAN: You

          3  know, it is a very mixed bag. I can share --

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: Would you be

          5  able to get that information?

          6                 ASSOCIATE COMMISSIONER FREEDMAN: Yes,

          7  I would share that with you, absolutely.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: You could give

          9  that to the Chair. Thank you very much. Thank you,

         10  Mr. Chairman.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: We have been

         12  joined by Council Member John Liu. He was here. He

         13  is moving kind of fast. The Counsel has just

         14  reminded me that Council Members Koppell and Barron

         15  are both chairing other meetings. The issue of the

         16  good players in the market and the good actors, do

         17  you think that this bill would give them some unfair

         18  difficulties once they were licensed?

         19                 ASSOCIATE COMMISSIONER FREEDMAN: It

         20  could and it is something that I think requires

         21  again further discussion and exploration, if I may

         22  suggest.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Okay. I strongly

         24  believe that whoever is out there doing the quick

         25  flips or the ability to just set up a store to gain
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          2  a base of income and then jump out before they can

          3  deliver all their goods, it would eliminate that and

          4  give you a tracking of that type of action with the

          5  licensing. I just believe that if you knew that

          6  there was a group of people that was interested in

          7  doing that, you would be able to track it a lot

          8  better. I understand the need for the hearing

          9  authority and we are going to be delving into that

         10  again soon and I appreciate you banging us over the

         11  head with it two or three times.

         12                 ASSOCIATE COMMISSIONER FREEDMAN: We

         13  appreciate the Committee's consideration.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: I don't think I

         15  have anything else. Do you have anything else that

         16  you wanted to share with us on pros and cons on this

         17  particular item that we have talking about?

         18                 ASSOCIATE COMMISSIONER FREEDMAN: No,

         19  we thank you very much for this opportunity.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: I went through my

         21  papers and I found the advertisement that was sent.

         22  You see it is both in English on one side and

         23  Spanish on the other side. There was a check that

         24  was sent to him for $28,500. The name is the place,

         25  maybe I better not say it on the mic.
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          2                 ASSOCIATE COMMISSIONER FREEDMAN:

          3  Right.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: You can take a

          5  look at it.

          6                 ASSOCIATE COMMISSIONER FREEDMAN:

          7  Thank you so much. We will be happy to carry that

          8  back.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: What happen was

         10  with him also, he saw the other article and he

         11  remembered that we talked about it here. Here I can

         12  give you this. He said that telemarketers called him

         13  from the dealership also acting like friends to get

         14  him to call back so that they could let him know

         15  that they were aware that he had received that in

         16  the mail and he should act on it. They are taking it

         17  to a new level of consumer fraud.

         18                 ASSOCIATE COMMISSIONER FREEDMAN:

         19  Thank you so much.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: You can take a

         21  look at that. Before I let you leave, do you have

         22  any idea on the EITC final numbers or will that not

         23  be out for a week or so? The Earned Income Tax

         24  Credit Program.

         25                 ASSOCIATE COMMISSIONER FREEDMAN: Yes.
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          2  The deadline was extended for those of us affected

          3  by the Nor'easter and we will have final numbers

          4  early next week. We know we are over the top, Mr.

          5  Chairman. This is the best year ever. Just last

          6  week, we had 28,000 calls to 311 which is probably

          7  three times the number we had last year. We know

          8  that we were effective in reaching out. We thank you

          9  for your efforts on behalf of the campaign and I

         10  think our numbers literally will be over the top

         11  this year. We are very, very excited. We're planning

         12  for the 2008 campaign.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Okay, great.

         14  Thank you.

         15                 ASSOCIATE COMMISSIONER FREEDMAN:

         16  Thank you.

         17                 MR. EILER: Thank you.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Thank you, Mr.

         19  Eiler. Now we'll hear from Alla Dubinsky. You can

         20  have a seat. If there is anyone else who wanted to

         21  speak to this issue, please fill out the appearance

         22  card. You can sit right by the microphone because

         23  they are leaving.

         24                 MS. DUBINSKY: I can talk?

         25                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Yes.
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          2                 MS. DUBINSKY: Hello and thank you for

          3  your attention. I would like to buy furniture. It

          4  was in September. We paid deposit, $400 and it was

          5  for example Monday or Sunday and the owner promised

          6  to bring us the furniture in four or five days. But

          7  it was maybe two or three weeks and they never

          8  brought. Finally, they brought one dresser with a

          9  broken mirror. My husband, now he is passed away, he

         10  took this dresser and there are people who works and

         11  didn't want to take the dresser back. It was maybe

         12  two months, they came and took this dresser back. We

         13  paid the people who brought, we paid already. But

         14  they never brought us the furniture what we ordered

         15  before and never gave back the money.

         16                 I came a few times to the store and

         17  spoke with the owner. But he told me, oh, come

         18  tomorrow. Maybe we will bring and more than ten

         19  times, they said to me the furniture is on the way

         20  to your house. They never brought everything.

         21  Finally, I came. He said, okay, come. Tomorrow, I

         22  will give your money back. When I came tomorrow, the

         23  store was closed and the neighbor said the store is

         24  going out of business. That's it. Now I don't know

         25  where I can find and what I'm suppose to wait.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: How long ago did

          3  this happen?

          4                 MS. DUBINSKY: It was September 2nd or

          5  3rd and never did they answer me.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: September 2 of

          7  2006?

          8                 MS. DUBINSKY: Yes.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: That's when you

         10  went back to the furniture store?

         11                 MS. DUBINSKY: Two months ago when I

         12  came to the store, the store was closed and out of

         13  business.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Okay. Did you

         15  ever get a receipt from them or any type of

         16  insurance from them?

         17                 MS. DUBINSKY: No, no insurance. I

         18  paid deposit and they promised in very short because

         19  I wait for people and I need the sofa bed and

         20  dresser and they never brought it.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: You paid cash or

         22  did you use a check?

         23                 MS. DUBINSKY: Cash.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: You paid cash?

         25                 MS. DUBINSKY: Yes.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Have you

          3  contacted the Department of Consumer Affairs?

          4                 MS. DUBINSKY: Yes. One time, I sent

          5  claim and they decided if I send the claim, somebody

          6  would call me and write me to get a date. I know the

          7  store is received some call or letters from customer

          8  service because when I came one time, they say, oh,

          9  you send. Okay, maybe we will do agreement with you.

         10  Maybe an agreement with customer service. I receive

         11  everything in full. They say I receive everything in

         12  full. I have only their receipt.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: I'm very sorry

         14  for this tragedy that has befallen you, Ms. Dubinsky

         15  and if there some way we can try to help the

         16  Department of Consumer Affairs to track it, you

         17  could give them a copy of your receipt and give them

         18  also the address of where it was. Is the store sign

         19  still on the building?

         20                 MS. DUBINSKY: Best Buy.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Best Buy.

         22                 MS. DUBINSKY: Best Buy, they are

         23  located on Flat Bush Avenue.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Okay. The sign is

         25  still on the building or was the sign removed?
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          2                 MS. DUBINSKY: You know, maybe three

          3  weeks ago, I was in a bus and I go across this

          4  store, the same sign was on the store. But the gates

          5  are closed.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Right. Okay. Go

          7  ahead.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: When you say

          9  customer service, are you talking about Best Buy

         10  customer service?

         11                 MS. DUBINSKY: No, no. I sent letter

         12   --

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: To whom? To

         14  whom?

         15                 MS. DUBINSKY: I will show you.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: Was it to the

         17  store or was it the furniture store?

         18                 MS. DUBINSKY: I think it was customer

         19  service in --

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: It has to be

         21  somewhere. Maybe you don't remember. That's okay.

         22  Because Best Buy was certainly a well known name and

         23  if Consumer Affairs in what they said in dealing

         24  with the well known names and some of the recourse

         25  that they had, I'm inclined to think it was the
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          2  customer service from Best Buy.

          3                 MS. DUBINSKY: No, no it was a claim

          4  not to Best Buy. In general, I sent organization.

          5  Because I called 311 and they gave me this address.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: Okay. As the

          7  Chair said, perhaps you will be able to provide

          8  information with that receipt and see what can be

          9  done for you.

         10                 MS. DUBINSKY: Thank you.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Thank you for

         12  coming down and sharing your story with us. Seeing

         13  that there is no one else that has signed up to

         14  testify this afternoon -- we do have a note in

         15  writing from another person named Ms. Charlin Myler

         16  (phonetic) that another person back in September of

         17   '06, they paid full payment for two sofa beds from

         18  a furniture shop in Jackson Heights. They were

         19  suppose to deliver it. In two weeks, they didn't

         20  show. It became another month. It was the same

         21  thing. That shop was sold out to another person and

         22  they don't have any clue where the person went. She

         23  only had her cell phone number. Unfortunately, she

         24  was not able to get restoration. It is just another

         25  example of how many people that are low- income that
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          2  are going to these local shops to try to get

          3  furniture so that they can have better quality of

          4  life, dealing with people that are unscrupulous and

          5  looking to take their money.

          6                 I want to thank Council Member Helen

          7  Sears for creating this bill and her staff so that

          8  we can move forward with it. I understand DCA's need

          9  to do some other things as well, but I think that

         10  having this regulation will at least put them under

         11  an umbrella that consumers would know they could

         12  look at the sign right in the building and they

         13  could see the number for DCA. They would have a

         14  complaint number and would give them another level

         15  of comfort and another level of understanding so

         16  that if there was a problem, they could call

         17  immediately and not have to just deal with looking

         18  at someone's cell phone number or a number on a form

         19  which could be changed at any time.

         20                 I want to thank Thomas Ferrugia,

         21  Counsel to the Committee, and Brian Sogol,

         22  Legislative Analyst, for putting together, with

         23  Council Member Sears's staff, this bill.  And we

         24  look forward to having some negotiations on it so

         25  that we can bring it back for vote as soon as
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          2  possible. With that, seeing no one else has raised

          3  their hand --

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: I just want to

          5  thank you again for bringing this out and having a

          6  hearing and your staff that has worked on it so

          7  well. Thank you. Because I look forward to the work

          8  that will be done on this.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Thank you.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: Thank you.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: With that, I will

         12  declare the hearing closed for today. This is the

         13  Consumer Affairs Committee, first hearing on Intro

         14  530, furniture stores, April 19, 2007. I declare the

         15  hearing closed. Thank you.

         16                 (Hearing concluded at 2:15 p.m.)
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